FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/14/2020 3:56 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/15/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98778-5

No. 52142-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRYAN EARLE GLANT,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Suzanne Lee Elliott, WSBA # 12634 SUZANNE LEE ELLIOTT LAW 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291 suzanne-elliott@msn.com Michael D. McKay, WSBA # 7040 Peter A. Talevich, WSBA # 42644 K&L GATES LLP 925 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2900 Seattle, WA 98104 mike.mckay@klgates.com peter.talevich@klgates.com

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED7
	A. THE COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE ISSUE OF WHETHER PRIVATE FUNDING OF SPECIFIC LAW ENFORCEMENT OPERATIONS CONSTITUTES OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENT MISCONDUCT
	B. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW AND OVERRULE <i>STATE V. TOWNSEND</i> BECAUSE IT IS INCORRECT, HARMFUL AND ITS FACTUAL AND LEGAL UNDERPINNINGS HAVE CHANGED13
V.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<i>Chandler v. Miller</i> , 520 U.S. 305, 117 S. Ct. 1295, 137 L.Ed.2d 513 (1997)16
<i>State v. Arbogast</i> , 36250-7-III (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 8, 2018)1
<i>State v. Berg</i> , 236 Kan. 562, 694 P.2d 427 (1985)9
State v. Bertolacci, 53320-1-II (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 29, 2019)1
State v. Best, No. 76457-8-I, 2018 WL 1907968 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 23, 2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1002, 430 P.3d 259 (2018)
<i>State v. Bilgi</i> , 53464-9-II (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2019)1
<i>State v. Borseth,</i> No. 36230-2-III, 2020 WL 2182269 (Wash. Ct. App. May 5, 2020)1
<i>State v. Canter</i> , 80409-0-I (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 20, 2019)1
<i>State v. Carson</i> , No. 36057-1-III, 2018 WL 4770896 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2018)
<i>State v. Chapman</i> , 140 Wn.2d 436, 998 P.2d 282 (2000)15
<i>State v. Chapman</i> , No. 50089-2-II, 2019 WL 325668 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2019)

State v. Faford, 128 Wn. 2d 476, 910 P.2d 447 (1996)13
State v. Fenter, 89 Wn.2d 57, 569 P.2d 67 (1977)17
<i>State v. Gong</i> , 54516-1-II (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2020)1
<i>State v. Groom</i> , 133 Wn.2d 679, 947 P.2d 240 (1997)16
<i>State v. Jacobson</i> , No. 49887-1-II, 2018 WL 2215888 (Wash. Ct. App. May 15, 2018), <i>review denied</i> , 192 Wn.2d 1005, 430 P.3d 247 (2018)
State v. Lien, 54146-7-II (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2019)1
State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996)2, 8, 11
<i>State v. Majeed</i> , 36591-3-II (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2019)1
<i>State v. O'Neill</i> , 103 Wn.2d 853, 700 P.2d 711 (1985)13
<i>State v. Persell</i> , No. 52236-5-II, 2020 WL 1867050 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 14, 2020)1
<i>State v. Pierce</i> , 195 Wn.2d 230, 455 P.3d 647 (2020)15
<i>State v. Racus</i> , No. 49755-7-II, 2018 WL 5281416 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2018)
<i>State v. Solomon</i> , 3 Wn. App. 2d 895, 909-10, 419 P.3d 436 (2018)9

State v. Townsend, 147 Wn.2d 666, 57 P.3d 255 (2002) passim
<i>State v. Zimmerman</i> , 81032-4-I (Wash. Ct. App. Feb 20, 2018)1
Statutes
RCW 9.73.030
RCW 13.60.100
RCW 13.60.110
Other Authorities
About Us, OUR, https://ourrescue.org/about (last visited July 13, 2020)
Andrew Perrin, 10 Facts About Smartphones As The iPhone Turns 10
<i>Carlos Rodriguez</i> , LinkedIn, https://www.linkedin.com/in/carlos-rodriguez- <u>862519195/detail/background-image</u> (last visited July 13, 2020)
Christopher Mims, <i>When Battlefield Surveillance Comes</i> <i>To Your Town</i> , Wall Street Journal (Aug. 3, 2019)10, 11
Elena Gardner, Spokane County 'Net Nanny' operation leads to arrest of 9 sexual predators1
KXLY (June 4, 2018), https://www.kxly.com/news/spokane-county-net- nanny-operation-leads-to-arrest-of-9-sexual- predators/749300170
Margaret H. Lemos & Guy-Uriel Charles, <i>Patriotic</i> <i>Philanthropy? Financing the State with Gifts to</i> <i>Government</i> , 106 Cal. L. Rev. 1129, 1135 (2018)9, 10

Pew Research Center (June 28, 2017),	
https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/06/28/10-	
facts-about-smartphones/	

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Bryan Earle Glant, through undersigned counsel, seeks review of Division II's opinion affirming his conviction and sentence for two counts of attempted rape of a child.

Police with the Washington State Patrol [WSP] arrested Glant as part of a series of stings they call "Net Nanny." Since 2015, these operations have led to at least 182 arrests.¹ Because the police control the story and can organize the scheme to require the most severe sentences, the detectives normally pose as an adult woman having at least two fictitious children with one under the age of 13.² By the WSP's own admission, it could not conduct Net Nanny operations without substantial donations from the private organization Operation Underground

¹ See Elena Gardner, Spokane County 'Net Nanny' operation leads to arrest of 9 sexual predators, KXLY (June 4, 2018), https://www.kxly.com/news/spokane-county-net-nanny-operation-leads-to-arrest-of-9-sexual-predators/749300170.

² Many of the convictions have been appealed and decided. State v. Carson, No. 36057-1-III, 2018 WL 4770896 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2018) (2 children, one age 11); State v. Racus, No. 49755-7-II, 2018 WL 5281416 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2018) (2 children, one under 11); State v. Chapman, No. 50089-2-II, 2019 WL 325668 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2019) (2 children, one under 11); State v. Best, No. 76457-8-I, 2018 WL 1907968 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 23, 2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1002, 430 P.3d 259 (2018) (3 children, one under 11); State v. Jacobson, No. 49887-1-II, 2018 WL 2215888 (Wash. Ct. App. May 15, 2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1005, 430 P.3d 247 (2018) (3 children, one under 11); State v. Persell, No. 52236-5-II, 2020 WL 1867050 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 14, 2020); State v. Borseth, No. 36230-2-III, 2020 WL 2182269, at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. May 5, 2020). Additional cases have not been decided yet. State v. Bilgi, 53464-9-II (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2019); State v. Bertolacci, 53320-1-II (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 29, 2019); State v. Lien, 54146-7-II (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2019); State v. Arbogast, 36250-7-III (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 8, 2018); State v. Majeed, 36591-3-II (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2019); State v. Gong, 54516-1-II (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2020); State v. Canter, 80409-0-I (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 20, 2019); State v. Zimmerman, 81032-4-I (Wash. Ct. App. Feb 20, 2018).

Railroad [OUR]. OUR's willingness to fund the police for each operation depends on the number of arrests made and WSP's ability to grant OUR special privileges around the stings. The detective seeking the donations personally received significant overtime pay from this same source of funds. Despite the important legal and constitutional questions that arise from this arrangement, the WSP has no intention of ending it, and the lower courts have uniformly condoned it. Only this Court can address the significant due process and public policy issues that arise when a public police function is privately funded and where such contributions result in direct financial gain to the police who solicit those funds.

Glant's petition raises two important issues meriting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). First, the petition asks (as a matter of first impression) whether under this Court's authority prohibiting outrageous government misconduct, OUR's relationship with the police through funding specific Net Nanny stings required the trial court to dismiss all charges against Glant. *See State v. Lively*, 130 Wn.2d 1, 19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996). Second, the petition asks the Court to address whether the Washington Privacy Act's [Privacy Act] common law exception for a defendant who grants "implied consent" to record text messages based solely on the defendant's presumed knowledge that text messages are usually stored on the recipient's device remains viable in light of statutory amendments to the Privacy Act and technological advances. *See State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 57 P.3d 255 (2002).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision in *State v. Glant* on June 16, 2020. See Appendix to Petition ("App.") 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does private funding of a specific police operation that financially benefited the officer who solicited the private funding and the private entity who gained valuable publicity and enhanced its own ability to attract donations by its association with the WSP constitute outrageous government misconduct in a manner that denied Glant his constitutional right to due process of law?

2. Should this Court accept review to revisit *State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 57 P.3d 255 (2002), which held that the Washington Privacy Act does not apply when a defendant impliedly consents to recording of text messages?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1999 the Legislature created the Missing and Exploited Children's Task Force [the task force] within the WSP to "address the problem of missing children, whether those children have been abducted by a stranger, are missing due to custodial interference, or are classified as runaways." RCW 13.60.100. The same act provides "[t]he chief of the state patrol shall seek public and private grants and gifts to support the work of the task force." RCW 13.60.110(4).

Years after its creation, the task force transitioned to performing sting operations it called "Net Nanny" using undercover officers, purportedly to locate those seeking to abuse children. The architect of Net Nanny, Detective Sergeant Carlos Rodriguez ("Rodriguez"), acknowledged that Net Nanny operations "don't involve actually [sic] children." CP 359.

About a year before the task force arrested Glant in a Net Nanny sting, the task force began a "partnership" with OUR. CP 361. OUR is a non-governmental agency founded and run by a private citizen, Tim Ballard. *See About Us*, OUR, https://ourrescue.org/about (last visited July 13, 2020). It donated nearly \$20,000 for Net Nanny 1, CP 366, \$30,000 for Net Nanny 2, CP 369, and \$10,000 for Net Nanny 5, CP 373-75. Requests to fund specific Net Nanny operations came not from WSP's chief, as the statute requires, but from Rodriguez. CP 381; *see* RCW 13.60.110(4). Rodriguez and his colleagues acknowledged that Net Nanny operations could not take place without OUR's funding. CP 384-390, 392.

In addition to serving as the point man by soliciting OUR's donations, without any statutory authority, Rodriguez participated personally in the operations and obtained overtime pay himself.³ In the Thurston County sting at issue here, Rodriguez and another member billed 105 hours of overtime. CP 428.

³ For example, in *State v. Chapman*, 2019 WL 325668, *2-4 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2019) (unpublished), Rodriguez posed as a woman named Shannon who pressured the defendant for days to perform sex acts with her daughters and, as a final inducement, offered to herself engage in a particular sex act with the defendant. A panel reversed the resulting conviction because the trial court had not offered an entrapment defense based upon Rodriguez' conduct. *Id.* at *6.

From 2012 through January 2017, Rodriguez collected \$21,718.96 in overtime, including \$15,479.11 in 2016 alone, when petitioner was arrested. CP 352-54.⁴

While Rodriguez and his colleagues received overtime pay from OUR, OUR sought publicity in return. In response to one donation request from Rodriguez, OUR demanded a commitment from WSP "that we will be able to do joint press releases and media appearances after this operation." CP 375. OUR's stated reason was to use these arrests to secure more donations. *Id.* While asking for a \$30,000 donation in advance of an operation, Rodriguez divulged the planned location and duration of the sting. CP 381. Before another, and while again soliciting a donation, Rodriguez provided budget and logistical information, including an unredacted document which was later provided to petitioner's counsel in redacted form. CP 395-400.⁵ OUR requested that WSP provide it arrest video for marketing. CP 412. While Rodriguez may not have acceded to this request, he did contact a local television reporter on OUR's behalf and asked her to cover the organization because a Net Nanny operation "would

⁴ Det. Sgt. Rodriguez also appears to have reaped another professional benefit. He recently retired from the WSP and accepted a position as Domestic Operations Coordinator at OUR. *See Carlos Rodriguez*, LinkedIn, <u>https://www.linkedin.com/in/carlos-rodriguez-862519195/detail/background-image</u> (last visited July 13, 2020).

⁵ That Rodriguez saw fit to divulge this confidential information to OUR before the operation, when the defendant received a redacted version after the operation in response to a public records request, shows the extent of the special privileges OUR received from law enforcement.

not have happened" without OUR's financial support. CP 381, 416; *see also* CP 402-03.

OUR's partnership with the task force significantly expanded the scope of Net Nanny operations, increased the number of arrests, and personally enriched task force members. WSP officers bragged about the ease of the arrests, noting that they had arrested suspects who would have plea bargains starting at 10 years in prison, and "[m]athematically," each arrest only costs \$2,500. CP 369-70. Rodriguez thanked OUR for "help[ing] turn [his] Task Force of two into a task force of 30," and stated that "[t]here is absolutely no way we would have made the number of arrests without your support." CP 421-22.

Against this backdrop, in September 2016, the task force set up a trap house in Tumwater and posted a Craigslist ad identified as "W4M," meaning "woman seeking man." CP 35. It referenced "family play time" and other vague references to family relationships, and asked the reader to contact the poster. *Id.* Glant, then 20 years old, responded to undercover detective McDonald, who posed as "Hannah." CP 51, 537. McDonald did not seek Glant's consent to record his text messages or email, nor did she seek a search warrant or one-way authorization to record such messages under the Privacy Act.

On September 9, 10, and 11, McDonald turned the discussion to sex acts with her supposed, actually fictitious, daughters. CP 450-60. Over these three days the detective flattered the young man with compliments ("you are cute") and feigned interest in his personal activities. CP 455-59. Concerned at one point that Glant would not fall into the trap, McDonald on September 10 asked Glant, "[A]re you really going to come over or flake on us?" CP 458. When Glant arrived at the trap house, he was arrested. In his post-arrest interview, he asserted that he was interested in the fictional mother and not her children. CP 770, 772.

The Thurston County Superior Court denied Glant's motion to suppress his text messages under the Privacy Act and the state constitution, holding that Glant had impliedly consented to their recording. CP 718. The court denied Glant's later motion to dismiss his case for outrageous government misconduct due to OUR's relationship with the task force, concluding in part that "[t]here is no authority that approves the use of a dismissal under the due process clause for governmental misconduct that is not related directly to the law enforcement interactions with the defendant at issue." CP 715, Conclusion of Law 4.

The Court tried Glant pursuant to stipulated facts, convicted him, and sentenced him to 108 months to life in prison. CP 779. Division II affirmed and, upon motion by the State, ordered publication of its opinion on June 16, 2020.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Whether the constitution permits a private organization to fund specific police operations, and whether the Privacy Act should be read to include an "implied consent" exception alongside the express consent requirement in the

statute, both raise substantial issues of public importance as set forth below. This Court's review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

The State's most recent filing underscores the need for this Court's review of the flawed Court of Appeals' opinion. The opinion was initially unpublished. The State moved to publish and wrote that "the Washington State Patrol has conducted several 'Net Nanny' operations around the State and is likely to continue to do so." State's Mot. to Publish at 2. According to the State's motion, representatives of the prosecutor's offices in King, Lewis, Clallam, Benton, Kittitas, Spokane, and Thurston County and an assistant attorney general urged publication for two reasons. First, "[s]tatewide the issues considered by the court in its opinion arise frequently and publication of the court's opinion would provide welcome guidance." *Id.* at 3. Second, issues involving the "proactive investigation of online sexual predation of children are of general public interest and import." *Id.*

A. THE COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE ISSUE OF WHETHER PRIVATE FUNDING OF SPECIFIC LAW ENFORCEMENT OPERATIONS CONSTITUTES OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENT MISCONDUCT.

Over two decades ago, this Court recognized that the conduct of law enforcement could be "so outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar the government from invoking judicial processes to obtain a conviction." *State v. Lively*, 130 Wn.2d 1, 19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996); *see also* *State v. Solomon*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 895, 909-10, 419 P.3d 436 (2018) (affirming dismissal of attempted rape charge for outrageous government misconduct). This Court should review Glant's conviction and hold that private funding of specific law enforcement operations is repugnant to due process. Only this Court's intervention can correct law enforcement's acceptance of this illegal practice.

OUR's relationship with the task force is a manifestation of "patriotic philanthropy," or the use of private donations for a governmental function. Margaret H. Lemos & Guy-Uriel Charles, *Patriotic Philanthropy? Financing the State with Gifts to Government*, 106 Cal. L. Rev. 1129, 1135 (2018). This Court has never addressed the extent to which private citizens or organizations can influence law enforcement policies without violating defendants' constitutional rights.

The question is of immediate importance for many reasons. Gifts like OUR's circumvent or skew the normal processes of democratic decision-making by circumventing the transparency in the state budgeting process. *Id.* at 1178. Transparent debate of the private entities' policy goals is also missing from this arrangement. While some courts have addressed the general dangers of private citizens' involvement in law enforcement, *see State v. Berg*, 236 Kan. 562, 694 P.2d 427 (1985) (holding that private attorney could not force prosecution over objection of county prosecutor despite statute allowing this), this Court has neither condoned nor banned private funding of specific police operations.

This case presents a clear example of the danger of private funding of law enforcement, at least that directed at specific initiatives and types of enforcement. Net Nanny stings have led to a clear quid pro quo between law enforcement and OUR.⁶ The task force through Rodriguez solicited donations from OUR for the express purpose of funding officer overtime so that Net Nanny operations could occur. The task force used this funding to ramp up its Net Nanny operations and pay overtime to the very person who were seeking the donations. By making more arrests, the task force validated the financial investment made by OUR and created an incentive to arrest as many people as possible. In return, OUR sought and largely received special privileges not available to the public or even defendants in those cases. The moral hazard created by this arrangement is obvious.

While private funding of law enforcement like the gifts made by OUR has only recently garnered academic attention, its implications are far reaching and should be addressed now by this Court. In the post-pandemic world, there will

⁶ As Lemos and Charles point out, the private funding issue can arise in other situations - even funding for equipment purchases - that bypass normal budget procedures raise serious issues. They describe a private donation of \$360,000 that allowed Baltimore to purchase aerial surveillance that blanketed the city. Had taxpayer dollars been involved, the transaction would have required approval by the city's five-member Board of Estimates. *Id.* at 1132-33. The private funding arrangement remained a secret until it was exposed in a Bloomberg article in August 2016. Its use then caused significant public outrage. Christopher Mims, *When Battlefield Surveillance Comes To Your Town*, Wall Street Journal (Aug. 3, 2019), https://www.wsj.com/articles/when-battlefield-surveillance-comes-to-your-town-11564805394.

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