FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/13/2020 9:09 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98778-5 COA No. 52142-3-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRYAN EARLE GLANT,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Chris Lanese, Judge Cause No. 16-1-01576-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

# **

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **Washington Supreme Court Decisions**

<u>State v. Athan,</u> 160 Wn.2d 354, 158 P.3d 27 (2007)6			
<u>State v. Ervin,</u> 169 Wn.2d 815, 239 P.3d 354 (2010)11			
<u>State v. Hinton,</u> 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014)11			
<u>State v. Lively,</u> 130 Wn.2d 1, 419 P.3d 436 (1996)			
<u>State v. Roden,</u> 179 Wn.2d 893, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014)11			
<u>State v. Sisouvanh,</u> 175 Wn.2d 607, 290 P.3d 942 (2012)6			
<u>State v. Smith,</u> 189 Wn.2d 655, 405 P.3d 997 (2017)10			
<u>State v. Townsend,</u> 147 Wn.2d 666, 57 P.3d 255 (2002)9-12			
Decisions Of The Court Of Appeals			
<u>In re Marriage of Farr,</u> 87 Wn. App. 177, 940 P.2d 679 (1997)10			
<u>State v. Glant,</u> 13 Wn. App.2d 356, 465 P.3d 382 (2020)			
<u>State v. Raucus,</u> 7 Wn. App.2d 287, 433 P.3d 380, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1014 (2019)11			

<u>State v. Solomon,</u> 3 Wn. App.2d 895, 419 P.3d 436 (2018)6
Statutes and Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)5
RAP 13.4(b)(2)5
RAP 13.4(b)(3)5
RAP 13.4(b)(4)5
RCW 9.73.0309
RCW 9.73.0903
RCW 9.73.230
RCW 13.61.1106, 8
RCW 43.43.0357
Washington Constitution Article 1, § 72,3
Washington Privacy Act (WPA)2
Other Authorities
<u>State v. Berg,</u> 236 Kan. 562, 694 P.2d 427 (1985)7

# A. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

- 1. Whether this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that private funding donations to the Washington State Patrol Missing and Exploited Children's Task Force did not provide a basis for dismissal based on outrageous government conduct.
- 2. Whether this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' finding that the trial court did not err by denying a motion to suppress evidence based on the Washington Privacy Act because Glant implicitly consented to recording of his text and email communications by the intended recipient, consistent with prior precedent of this Court that is neither incorrect or harmful.

## B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

As a result of his attempts to solicit children for sexual encounters during a "Net Nanny" sting operation conducted by the WSP's Missing and Exploited Children Task Force (METCF), Bryan Earle Glant was charged with two counts of attempted rape of a child in the first degree.

Prior to trial, in a motion heard before the trial court on June 19, 2017, Glant moved to suppress all text and email messages

between himself and the undercover officer. 1 RP 1-48.<sup>1</sup> Glant sought suppression of his incriminating texts and emails alleging that the messages were received by police in violation of RCW Chapter 9.73, the Washington Privacy Act (WPA). 1 RP 1. Glant's motion was based on his claim that he did not consent to the recording of his communications with the undercover officer and therefore, the police violated the Privacy Act and Article 1, § 7 of the Washington Constitution concerning personal privacy.

The trial Court concluded that the messages between Glant and the undercover officer were indeed private and would fall within the scope of protection created by the WPA; however, Glant "implicitly consented" to the recording of the messages because he had "know[ledge] that the communications . . . were preserved beyond the moment of sending on either [by] phone or computer." 1

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings in this matter appears in six volumes. Volume 1, transcribed by Sonya L. Wilcox, contains a hearing on a Motion to Suppress Illegally Intercepted and Recorded Evidence held June 19, 2017 and will be referred to as 1 RP in this brief. Volume 2, transcribed by Sonya L. Wilcox, contains a hearing on a Motion to Compel Discovery that took place on July 10, 2017 and will be referred to as 2 RP in this brief. Volume 3, transcribed by Kathryn A. Beehler, contains a hearing on a Motion to Suppress a Recorded Interrogation and Cellphone Evidence, which took place on June 7, 2017 and will be referred to in this brief as 3 RP. Volume 4, transcribed by Cheri L. Davidson, contains a hearing on a Motion to Dismiss for Outrageous Governmental Conduct held March 28, 2018, and will be referenced herein as 4 RP. Volume 5, transcribed by Cheri L. Davidson, contains the bench trial heard April 23, 2018, and will be referenced in this brief as RP 5. Volume 5, transcribed by Cheri L. Davidson, contains the sentencing hearing held July 17, 2018, and will be referenced herein as 6 RP.

RP 43. Because Glant implicitly consented to the recording of the communications, the MECTF was not required to obtain probable cause authorization pursuant to RCW 9.73.230 or a wiretapping warrant under RCW 9.73.090(2) in order to lawfully receive and record the messages sent to the undercover officer. 1 RP 43.

The trial court also held that the police conduct was not in violation of Art. 1, § 7 of the Washington Constitution. 1 RP 45. The Court reasoned that "voluntarily disclosing information to strangers assumes the risk of being deceived as to the identity of one with whom deals." 1 RP 45.

Glant filed another pretrial motion that was before the court on March 26, 2018, to dismiss the two charges against him based upon allegations of outrageous government misconduct by the MECTF in violation of his due process rights. 4 RP 10-71. The court considered the "totality of the circumstances" concerning this incident and paid specific attention to the factors laid out in <u>State v. Lively</u>, 130 Wn.2d 1, 22, 419 P.3d 436 (1996), when considering the claim of outrageous government misconduct. 4 RP 61. The court weighed every <u>Lively</u> factor and concluded that there was not enough evidence presented sufficient to support "a finding that the conduct of the Washington State Patrol, or anyone involved in this

case, amounted to criminal activity or was repugnant to a sense of justice." 4 RP 68.

After Glant's pretrial motions failed, he elected to conduct a bench trial based on stipulated facts. CP 772. At the conclusion of the bench trial, Glant was convicted of two counts of attempted rape of a child in the first degree and was sentenced to 108 months in prison. CP 779. During the sentencing hearing on July 17, 2018, the trial court judge took into consideration "the age of the defendant and his capacity for growth" when imposing the sentence. 6 RP July 17, 2018, 91.

On appeal, Division II of the Court of Appeals found that the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress and the motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals' decision noted that "because Glant impliedly consented to the communications he had with Hannah, all parties consented to the recording," in finding that the trial court did not err in denying Glant's motion to suppress based on the privacy act. State v. Glant, 13 Wn. App.2d 356, 366, 465 P.3d 382 (2020). The Court of Appeals' decision, applied correctly, considered the factors set forth by this Court in denying Glant's motion to dismiss for outrageous government conduct. *Id.* at 369-375.

## C. <u>ARGUMENT.</u>

This Court will accept review when the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2), raises a significant question of law under the Washington or the United States Constitutions, RAP 13.4(b)(3), or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The decision at issue does not conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals, as detailed below. Glant has not demonstrated a compelling reason for this Court to accept review.

1. The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly followed the test for outrageous government misconduct that this Court set forth in State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996), to find that outside funding sources for the missing and exploited children's task force did not constitute outrageous government misconduct.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the issue of outside funding raised by Glant pursuant to the guidelines that this Court set forth in <a href="State v. Lively">State v. Glant</a>, 13 Wn.App.2d at 370-375. The trial court further noted that RCW 13.60.110 specifically authorizes the

MECTF to collect private funding to support its goal of rooting out potential sexual abusers of children. *Id.* at 374-375.

A trial court's order on a motion to dismiss on the basis of outrageous governmental misconduct is reviewed "under an abuse of discretion standard." State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d at 375. "Abuse of discretion requires the trial court's decision to be manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *Id.* at 375-76 "A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision adopts a view that no reasonable person would take." State v. Solomon, 3 Wn. App.2d 895, 910, 419 P.3d 436, 444 (2018) (citing State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 623, 290 P.3d 942 (2012)).

The Court of Appeals properly applied the correct standard of review to the decision of the trial court on Glant's motion to dismiss. It is clear that Washington State law authorizes the State Patrol to solicit funds to support the MECTF. RCW 13.61.110. That statute is the governing statute for the MECTF. Section (4) provides that the chief of the state patrol *shall* seek public and private grants and gifts to support the work of the task force. (Emphasis added). Contrary to Glant's argument at the Court of Appeals, there is no provision in the law that prohibits the chief of the state patrol from

delegating this authority. In fact, Chapter 7 of the MECTF IAD standard procedures manual specifically delegates such a duty to detective supervisors stating that the duties of a Task Force Detective Supervisor include "initiating budget and grant requests." CP 935-939.

As argued by the State during the hearing on this issue, to require the chief of the state patrol to handle every task specifically assigned to him by statute without delegation would be absurd. The example that the State provided is RCW 43.43.035, which following Glant's logic would require the chief of the state patrol to personally provide security for the governor. 4 RP 53. Neither Detective Sgt. Rodriguez nor the MECTF violated the law by soliciting private donations for funding. Even if there were minor defects in compliance with funding statutes, the trial court correctly noted that no Washington case has applied the doctrine of outrageous conduct to a funding issue.

The Kansas case that Glant continues to rely upon, <u>State v. Berg</u>, 236 Kan. 562, 694 P.2d 427 (1985), does not support Glant's position. In that case, the Supreme Court of Kansas simply held that a Kansas statute allowing a witness to hire their own counsel to assist in the prosecution did not allow that attorney to overrule the

county prosecuting attorney's decision to dismiss the case. *Id.* at 568. Nothing in that decision supports Glant's argument made in this case.

It was Glant, who responded to the advertisement and Glant who informed the undercover officer what he wished to do with her daughters. CP 449-460; CP 772; Ex 1. The trial court properly applied the <u>Lively</u> factors and did not abuse its discretion by denying Glant's motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals properly applied the correct standard of review and the decision is consistent with RCW 13.61.110, which is indicative of public policy authorizing private grants for funding the State Patrol. As the Court of Appeals noted, "nothing in the record shows that O.U.R. was attempting to overrule or commandeer the Net Nanny operations over the objections of the MECTF." Glant, 13 Wn. App.2d at 371.

While Glant's argument regarding outside funding as a basis for outrageous government conduct differed from previous interpretations of the concept, this Court provided the proper foundations for consideration in <u>Lively</u>, which were followed by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals. "The funding of MECTF here is attenuated from Glant's arrest." <u>Glant</u>. 12 Wn. App.2d at

- 372. Glant has provided no compelling reason why this Court should accept review on this issue.
  - 2. <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 147 Wn.2d 666, 676, 57 P.3d 255 (2002), is neither incorrect nor harmful and this Court should not entertain Glant's request to overrule it.

In <u>State v. Townsend</u>, 147 Wn.2d 666, 676, 57 P.3d 255 (2002), this Court held that in the context of the privacy act, a person may impliedly consent to the recording within the meaning of the privacy act. This Court stated, "a communicating party will be deemed to have consented to having his or her communication recorded when the party knows the messages will be recorded." *Id.* at 675-676. The rationale of the Court was:

Because Townsend, as a user of e-mail had to understand that computers are, among other things, a message recording device and that his e-mail messages would be recorded on the computer of the person to whom the message was sent, he is properly deemed to have consented to the recording of those messages.

*Id.* at 676. This Court concluded that "the saving of messages is inherent in an e-mail and ICQ messaging" and that through his use of such communication mechanisms, Townsend had impliedly consented to the recording of such messages. *Id.* at 678.

Glant argues that the decision of this Court was incorrect based on RCW 9.73.030(3), which states, where consent by all

parties is required, "consent shall be considered obtained whenever one party has announced to all other parties engaged in the communication or conversation, *in any reasonably effective manner*, that such communication is about to be recorded." (emphasis added). The doctrine of implied consent adopted by this Court in <u>Townsend</u> is consistent with that of the privacy act. The choice of medium, text messages or email, effectively announces to all parties that the conversation will be recorded because that is how the medium works. Like leaving a message on an answering machine, people in modern society who chose to utilize text messaging are aware that the message will be recorded. See <u>In re Marriage of Farr</u>, 87 Wn. App. 177, 184, 940 P.2d 679 (1997); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 189 Wn.2d 655, 665, 405 P.3d 997 (2017).

Glant's argument that an expressed announcement that the message would be recorded needs to be given with every message would be an absurd result. Such a requirement would cause numerous innocent actors who utilize text messaging daily to be in violation of the privacy act. People who use text messages, including Mr. Glant, are aware that the act of sending a message causes it to be recorded on both the sending and receiving phone. The rationale in <u>Townsend</u> remains sound and has been repeatedly

adopted by this Court. State v. Smith, 189 Wn.2d 655; State v. Roden, 179 Wn.2d 893, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014); State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014). The Court of Appeals has applied the rule to text messages, stating, "when a person sends e-mail or text messages, they do so with the understanding that the messages would be available to the receiving party for reading or printing." State v. Raucus, 7 Wn. App.2d 287, 299-300, 433 P.3d 380, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1014 (2019).

The legislature has not amended the privacy act in response to <u>Townsend</u>. This Court presumes the "legislature is familiar with judicial interpretations of statutes," and the lack of an amendment to remove the doctrine of implied consent is indicative that the doctrine is consistent with the statute. <u>State v. Ervin</u>, 169 Wn.2d 815, 239 P.3d 354 (2010) (absent an indication it intended to overrule a particular interpretation, amendments are presumed to be consistent with previous judicial decisions). RCW 9.73.030 has not been amended since 1986 and it appears that no effort has been made by the legislature to remove implied consent based on the <u>Townsend</u> decision.

In this case, Glant sent messages to his intended recipient with the knowledge that text messages are recorded on the

recipient's phone. While he did not know that the recipient was a law enforcement officer, he voluntarily sent the messages to the intended recipient. He has neither demonstrated that implied consent pursuant to the <u>Townsend</u> decision is incorrect, nor has he demonstrated that it is harmful. There is no reason why this Court should accept review.

# D. <u>CONCLUSION.</u>

For the reasons stated herein, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny the petition for review. Glant has provided no compelling reason for which this Court should accept review.

Respectfully submitted this 13th day of August, 2020.

Joseph J.A. Jackson, WSBA# 37306

Attorney for Respondent